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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
 PLAINTIFF, 

v. 

$1,810,490.34 SEIZED FROM 
TOUCHMARK NATIONAL BANK 
ACCOUNT NUMBER XXXXXX0855,  
AND $1,225,827.11 SEIZED FROM 
BANK OF AMERICA ACCOUNT 
NUMBER XXXXXX1840, 
 
 DEFENDANTS. 
 

 
 
Civil Action No. 

  
_______________ 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE 

COMES NOW the United States of America, the Plaintiff in this action, and 

shows the Court the following in support of its Verified Complaint for Forfeiture: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a civil forfeiture action against a total of $3,036,317.45 (the 

Defendant Property) seized from two bank accounts held in the names 

of Hi-Tech Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Diversified Biotech Inc. DBA Hi-

Tech Pharmaceuticals. 
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2. As detailed below, the Defendant Property is subject to forfeiture 

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) as property which constitutes and is 

derived from proceeds traceable to one or more specified unlawful 

activities as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7), and a conspiracy to commit 

such offenses, including but not limited to violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341,   

1343, 1349, 1956, and 1957 and 21  U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1), 846, 854, and 856.  

3. The Defendant Property is also subject to forfeiture pursuant to 21 U.S.C. 

§ 881(a)(6) as money and other things of value furnished and intended to 

be furnished by a person in exchange for a controlled substance in 

violation of Title 21, Subchapter I. 

4. Finally, the Defendant Property is subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A) as property involved in and traceable to one or more 

transactions or attempted transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 

and 1957.   

THE DEFENDANTS IN REM 

5. The Defendant Property consists of the following money and funds:  

a. $1,810,490.34 (the Defendant $1,810,490.34)  that federal agents seized 

from the Touchmark National Bank account ending in 0855, held in 
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the name of Hi-Tech Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Touchmark Account) 

on October 4, 2017; and  

b. $1,225,827.11 (the Defendant $1,225,827.11) that federal agents seized 

from Bank of America account number ending in 1840, held in the 

name of Diversified Biotech Inc. DBA Hi-Tech Pharmaceuticals (the 

Bank of America Account) on October 4, 2017.   

6. The Defendant Currency presently is located in this district in a secure 

account maintained by the U.S. Marshals Service. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1345 and 

1355. 

8. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1395. 

FACTS SUPPORTING FORFEITURE 

9. As described with more particularity below, this civil forfeiture action in rem 

arises in connection with a U.S. Food and Drug Administration Office of 

Criminal Investigations (FDA-OCI) investigation of Hi-Tech 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Diversified Biotech Inc. DBA Hi-Tech 

Pharmaceuticals; Jared Wheat; John Brandon Schopp; and others, both 
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known and unknown, for mail fraud, wire fraud, introducing misbranded 

drugs into interstate commerce, manufacturing and distributing controlled 

substances, investment of illicit drug profits, money laundering, and 

conspiracies to commit all of the aforementioned offenses.   

Relevant Persons and Entities 

10. Hi-Tech Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Hi-Tech), a Georgia corporation established in 

or about April 1998 and indicted in the Northern District of Georgia on or 

about September 28, 2017, in criminal action number 1:17-CR-0229-AT, is a 

United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) registered food facility 

and online seller of dietary supplements and the named owner of the 

Touchmark Bank Account from which agents seized the Defendant 

$1,810,490.34. 

11. Jared Wheat (Wheat), also a subject of Northern District of Georgia Criminal 

Indictment number 1:17-0229-CR-AT, is a principal of Hi-Tech 

Pharmaceuticals and the person who incorporated that business.  

12. Diversified Biotech Inc. dba Hi-Tech Pharmaceuticals (Diversified), also 

indicted in Northern District of Georgia Criminal Indictment number 1:17-
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0229-CR-AT,  is the account holder for the Bank of America Account from 

from which agents seized the Defendant $1,225,827.1 

13. John Brandon Schopp (Schopp), the final subject of Northern District of 

Georgia Criminal Indictment number 1:17-0229-CR-AT, is Diversified’s 

president and an authorized signatory on the Bank of America account from 

which agents seized the Defendant $1,225,827.11.   

14. Touchmark National Bank is a financial institution whose activities affect 

interstate and foreign commerce.  

15. Bank of America is likewise a financial institution whose activities affect 

interstate and foreign commerce. 

16. The United Parcel Service (UPS) is a commercial interstate carrier who 

conducts business in interstate and foreign commerce.  

The FDA’s Role 

17. FDA is the federal agency charged with the responsibility of protecting the 

health and safety of the American public by enforcing the Food Drug and 

Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”).  One purpose of the FDCA is to ensure that foods 

sold for consumption by humans are safe to eat and bear labeling containing 

only true and accurate information.   
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18. FDA also ensures that drugs are safe and effective for their intended uses and 

bear labeling that contains true and accurate information.   

19. The FDA’s responsibilities under the FDCA include regulating the 

manufacture, labeling, and distribution of foods and drugs shipped or 

received in interstate commerce.   

20. Under the FDCA, foods and drugs are deemed to be misbranded if their 

respective labeling is false or misleading in any particular.  21 U.S.C. §§ 

343(a)(1) (foods) and 352(a) (drugs).  

21. A drug is also misbranded if its labeling fails to bear adequate directions for 

use.  21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1). 

22. The FDCA prohibits doing and causing the following acts: 

a. Introducing or delivering for introduction into interstate commerce 

any food and/or drug that is misbranded.  21 U.S.C. § 331(a); and 

b. Doing an act to a food and/or drug after shipment in interstate 

commerce and while held for sale that results in the food and/or drug 

being misbranded.  21 U.S.C. § 331(k). 

23. As described below, Hi-Tech violated these and other laws.  

Hi-Tech’s and Diversified’s Business Infrastructure 
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24. Since its incorporation in Georgia, Hi-Tech and Diversified have conducted 

business operations both at physical locations in the Northern District of 

Georgia and on the internet.   

25. Specifically, at various times relevant to this Complaint for Forfeiture, but 

beginning no later October 2007 and continuing through at least June of 2017, 

operations related to Hi-Tech’s and Diversified’s businesses were conducted 

at the following  locations in the Northern District of Georgia:  

a. 6015 Unity Drive, Suites A, B, D, and F, Norcross, GA 30071 (6015 

Unity Drive);  

b. 6020 Unity Drive, Suites D, E, F, G and H, Norcross, GA 30071 (6020 

Unity Drive);   

c. 6025 Unity Drive, Suite A, Norcross, GA 30071 (6025 Unity Drive);   

d. 5440 Oakbrook Parkway, Suites A and B, Norcross, GA 30093 

(Oakbrook Parkway);  

e. 500 Satellite Boulevard, Suite B, Suwanee, GA 30024 (Satellite 

Boulevard);  and  

f. 1256 Oakbrook Drive, Suite A, Norcross, GA 30093 (Oakbrook Drive) 

(collectively, the Business Premises).    
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26. Hi-Tech has multiple Facility FDA Establishment Identifier (“FEI”) Numbers, 

that is, FDA-assigned numbers used to track inspections. 

27. Hi-Tech used the below-described Business Premises for the purposes 

outlined below:  

a. Suites B and D located at 6015 Unity Drive served as Hi-Tech’s 

administrative offices and manufacturing facility, respectively.  

b. Suites F and G at 6020 Unity Drive served as an additional 

manufacturing facility for Hi-Tech.  

c. Oakbrook Parkway served as a warehouse where Hi-Tech stored raw 

materials, finished products, bulk dietary supplements, packaging 

materials, and manufacturing machinery.   

d. Satellite Boulevard served as a Hi-Tech facility for blending powder 

products and raw materials.  

28. False, misbranded, and mislabeled controlled substances, including but not 

limited to Schedule III controlled substances, were among the products that 

Hi-Tech manufactured, stored, and distributed from the Business Premises.   

29. In addition to the Business Premises, Hi-Tech also maintained an online 

presence. 
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30. That presence was located on at least one, if not more, internet web sites.  

31. Between March 2016 and at least mid-2017, www.hitechpharma.com was a  

web site that Hi-Tech has used to promote the products that it manufactures, 

stores, and distributes, and to take orders from consumers.     

32. False, misbranded, and mislabeled controlled substances, including but not 

limited to Schedule III controlled substances, were among the products that 

Hi-Tech offered for sale at www.hitechpharma.com. 

33. Upon receiving an order from a customer, Hi-Tech’s general practice was to 

gather the products necessary to fill that order from one or more of its 

Business Premises, package and address them, and ship them to its customer 

via United Parcel Service (UPS).   

34. Between January 2015 and May 15, 2017, UPS picked up in excess of 60,000 

packages from addresses controlled by and associated with Hi-Tech for 

shipment.  

35. Discovery may yield evidence that Hi-Tech also used the United States mail 

or other commercial interstate carriers in addition to UPS to conduct business. 

36. Hi-Tech offered two payment options to its customers – payment by credit 

card and COD payments collected at the time of delivery.   
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37. The Touchmark Account, an account that Wheat opened in or about May 

2014, was at least one of the accounts into which funds traceable to Hi-Tech 

customers’ credit card payments were deposited. 

38. COD payments from Hi-Tech customer orders were also deposited into the 

Touchmark Account.  

Specific Examples of Hi-Tech’s Unlawful Sales of False, Mislabeled, and 

 Misbranded Controlled Substances 

39. Although the United States expects discovery to show that Hi-Tech, Wheat, 

Diversified, Schopp, and others engaged in a widespread practice of 

manufacturing, marketing, and distributing false, mislabeled, and 

misbranded controlled substances in violation of U.S. law that may have 

begun as early as 1997 or 1998, the investigation has revealed evidence that 

such activity began no later than March 2016 and continued through at least 

September 14, 2017.  

40. During that period, Hi-Tech offered its own lines of branded products for sale 

at www.hitechpharma.com under the category of “Testosterone & 

Prohormone Supplements”  
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41. Those products included 1-AD, 1-Testosterone, Androdiol, Equibolin, and 

Superdrol.  

42. “Prohormone” supplements are marketed to promote muscle growth.   

43. Prohormone supplements often contain non-dietary ingredients or Schedule 

III controlled substances, namely anabolic steroids.   

44. The investigation has confirmed at least two sets of specific events believed 

to characterize the unlawful manner in which Hi-Tech, its principals, and 

related entities committed the crimes that led agents to seize the Defendant 

Property.    

45. The first set of examples occurred in September 2016, when agents from FDA-

OCI conducted undercover purchases of the aforementioned products from 

www.hitechpharma.com using undercover names and credit cards.   

46. In connection with those purchases, Hi-Tech used at least one UPS account to 

ship products to fill the undercover purchase orders via UPS Ground delivery 

to FDA undercover addresses located in Florida and Georgia.   

47. The shipper’s address shown on those packages was the 1256 Oakbrook Drive 

address, and each package contained a printed invoice from Hi-Tech bearing 

the 6015 Unity Drive address.  

Case 1:17-cv-04442-CAP   Document 1   Filed 11/06/17   Page 11 of 20

http://www.hitechpharma.com/


12 

 

 

48. Moreover, undercover credit card statements showed Hi-Tech as the 

merchant originating the charges for the September 2016 undercover 

purchases.  

49.  Deposits from credit card merchant processors post to the Touchmark 

Account. 

50. FDA-OCI submitted samples of the products that it received from the 

undercover purchases to its Forensic Chemistry Center (FCC) for chemical 

analysis. 

51. That chemical analysis showed that the following Hi-Tech products 

contained Schedule III anabolic steroids as described below.  

Product  Schedule III Anabolic Steroids  Alternate Name of 
Steroids 

1-AD 
Lot # C736 

boldione; and 
 
 
androstenedione 

androstadienedione 
and/or 
1,4-androstadien-3,17-
dione 
 
5α-androstan-3,17-dione 

1-Testosterone 
Lot # C737 

boldione; and 
 
 
androstanedione 
 

androstadienedione 
and/or 
1,4-androstadien-3,17-
dione 
 
5α-androstan-3,17-dione 

Androdiol 4-androstenediol 4-androsten-3β, 17β-diol 
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Lot # C750 and/or 
5-androstenediol 

 
5-androsten-3β-ol-17-one 

Equibolin 
Lot # C689 

4-androstenediol 
and/or 
5-androstenediol 

4-androsten-3β, 17β-diol 
 
5-androsten-3β-ol-17-one 

Superdrol  
Lot # C770 

Androstenedione 5α-androstan-3,17-dione 

 
52. The respective labeling for the 1-AD, 1-Testosterone, Androdiol, Equibolin, 

and Superdrol products received from the September 2016 undercover 

purchases failed to properly declare as ingredients the respective Schedule III 

anabolic steroids contained therein, as more fully detailed in the table above.   

53. Accordingly, this false or misleading labeling rendered those products 

misbranded under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, Title 21, United 

States Code, Sections 301-399f (“FDCA”). 

54. A second, illustrative example occurred in August of 2017.  

55. Specifically, on or about August 7, 2017, an individual in North Carolina sent 

an email to Chad Jordan (Jordan), Hi-Tech’s Regional Sales Manager, 

requesting information on Hi-Tech’s prohormones.  

56. Jordan responded to that inquiry on August 8, 2017, from 

chadj@hitechpharma.com, a Hi-Tech email address that Jordan controlled.  
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57. The August 8, 2017, response contained the following:  

a. A representation that “all” of the prohormones “are compliant and 

DHEA1 compounds that bypass the liver so they are not toxic.  34.95 

is your price on all of the prohormones under the hi tech line.  1-

testosterone is the one I move the most and then Anavar is my second 

best seller.”   

b. A dropbox link to Hi-Tech pricing lists for products and its family of 

brands.   

c. Marketing material and labels for numerous products Hi-Tech 

distributes.   

58. Thereafter, on August 14, 2017, the same prospective Hi-Tech customer sent 

a follow-up email to Jordan to inquire about payment options.   

59. Jordan’s response, sent from the same Hi-Tech email address, explained that 

Hi-Tech offered “[T]wo options.  We can do COD if you fill out the COD form.  

Or we can take a credit card for the order.”  

                                              
1 DHEA (dehydroepiandrosterone) is a hormone produced by human adrenal 

glands. 
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60. Thereafter, on August 15, 2017, the customer sent an email order to Jordan’s 

address for five bottles each of the Hi-tech products 1-AD, Androdiol, 

Equibolin, and Superdrol and requested COD payment.  

61. On August 21, 2017, the customer received a package containing the 

requested product from Hi-Tech at an address in North Carolina.   

62. That package showed the Oakbrook Drive address as the shipping address 

and contained an invoice bearing the 6015 Unity Drive address. 

63. Thereafter, that individual paid for the Hi-Tech products using a check made 

payable to “Hi Tech Pharma”. 

64. On or about August 31, 2017, the check used to pay for the North Carolina 

shipment was deposited into the Touchmark Account, the account from 

which agents seized the Defendant $1,810,490.34 

65. FDA submitted samples of the products delivered to North Carolina to the 

FCC for chemical analysis. 

66. That chemical analysis showed that the following Hi-Tech products 

contained Schedule III anabolic steroids as described below.  

Product  Schedule III Anabolic Steroids  Alternate Name of 
Steroids 

1-AD  4-androstenediol 4-androsten-3β, 17β-diol 
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Lot # C921 and/or 
5-androstenediol 

5-androsten-3β-ol-17-one 

Androdiol  
Lot  #C681 

4-androstenediol 
and/or 
5-androstenediol 

4-androsten-3β, 17β-diol 
 
5-androsten-3β-ol-17-one 

Equibolin 
Lot # C841 

4-androstenediol 
and/or 
5-androstenediol 

4-androsten-3β, 17β-diol 
 
5-androsten-3β-ol-17-one 

Superdrol  
Lot # C857 

androstanedione; 
 
4-androstenediol  
and/or 
5-androstenediol; and 
 
Boldione 

5α-androstan-3,17-dione 
 
4-androsten-3β, 17β-diol 
 
5-androsten-3β-ol-17-one 
 
androstadienedione 
and/or 
1,4-androstadien-3,17-
dione 

 

67. The respective labeling for the 1-AD, Androdiol, Equibolin, and Superdrol 

products shipped to North Carolina failed to properly declare as ingredients 

the respective Schedule III anabolic steroids contained therein, as more fully 

detailed in the table above.  

68. Accordingly, this false or misleading labeling rendered those products 

misbranded under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 

301-399f (“FDCA”). 
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69. The United States expects discovery in this case to yield additional evidence 

to support claims that Hi-Tech, Wheat, and others have engaged in countless, 

similar acts of manufacturing and selling false, mislabeled, and misbranded 

controlled substances, as well as additional uses of the United States mail, 

commercial interstate carriers, and wire communications to execute their 

schemes and artifices to defraud during the course of Hi-Tech’s existence that 

may have commenced as early as 1998.  

70. Moreover, the United States expects discovery to yield evidence that Hi-Tech, 

Wheat, Diversified, Schopp, and others thereafter invested profits from the 

above-referenced violations of Title 21, Chapter I.   

Money Laundering  

71. After proceeds of Hi-Tech’s manufacturing, marketing, and distributing false, 

mislabeled, and misbranded controlled substances in violation of U.S. law 

were deposited into the Touchmark Account, Hi-Tech, Wheat, Diversified, 

Schopp, and others engaged in financial and monetary transactions that 

laundered those funds.  
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72. Those money laundering transactions included transactions in which Hi-Tech 

regularly issued checks drawn on the Touchmark account that were thereafter 

deposited into the Bank of America Account.    

73. For instance, between January 2016 and June 2017, a total of approximately 

$7,520,000 in checks drawn on the Touchmark Account were deposited into 

the Bank of America Account.   

74. Moreover, after tainted funds from the Touchmark Account arrived in the 

Bank of America account, members of the conspiracies at issue in this case 

used tainted funds to pay various expenses that promoted the specified 

unlawful activity.  

75. For instance, between January 2016 and August 2017, Hi-Tech, Diversified, 

Wheat, and Schopp, either personally, or aided and abetted by one another, 

engaged in additional financial and monetary transactions using tainted 

funds from the Bank of America account and to pay rents on one or more of 

the Business Premises where Hi-Tech’s unlawful manufacturing and 

distribution activities occurred.   

76. The United States expects that discovery will yield evidence that some of the 

transactions of funds from both the Touchmark Account and the Bank of 
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America Account involved more than $10,000 in specified unlawful activity 

proceeds.  

77. Moreover, the United States expects that discovery will also identify 

additional evidence that Hi-Tech, Diversified, Wheat, and Schopp engaged in 

additional financial transactions between approximately 1998 and continuing 

into the present that promoted specified unlawful activity and additional 

monetary transactions in amounts of more than $10,000 in tainted funds, 

including but not limited to paying rents, payroll, contract labor, packaging 

materials and supplies, shipping charges, and other costs that promoted the 

specified unlawful activity using tainted funds from the Touchmark Account, 

the Bank of America Account, and possibly other accounts.  

78. Finally, the United States expects that discovery will yield evidence that funds 

representing income from investment of profits from Hi-Tech’s, Wheat’s, 

Diversified’s, and Schopp’s violations of Title 21, United States Code, were 

among the Defendant Property.  

 

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that: 

1) The Court forfeit the Defendant Property to the United States of America; 
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2) The Court award Plaintiff the costs of this action; and

3) The Court grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper

under the facts and circumstances of this case.

This 6th day of November, 2017. 

Respectfully submitted, 

BYUNG J. PAK 
United States Attorney 

600 U.S. Courthouse   
75 Ted Turner Drive SW   
Atlanta, GA 30303 
(404) 581-6000   fax (404) 581-6181

/s/ KELLY CONNORS 
Assistant United States Attorney 

Georgia Bar No.     504787    
Kelly.Connors@usdoj.gov 
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